THE EFFECT OF ESCITALOPRAM AND A 5-HT_{2C} RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST ON THE EEG GAMMA OSCILLATIONS

PhD thesis

Noémi Papp

Pharmaceutical Sciences Doctoral School Semmelweis University





Supervisor:

Official reviewers:

György Bagdy, DSc István Hernádi, PhD Róbert Bódizs, PhD

Head of the Complex Examination Committee:ZMembers of the Complex Examination Committee:I

Zoltán Benyó, DSc Ildikó Miklya, PhD Attila Tóth, PhD

Budapest 2020

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations
1. Introduction 4
1.1. Rhythms of the brain 4
1.1.1. Frequency bands of the EEG 4
1.1.2. Sleep and wakefulness
1.1.3. Relevance of EEG in neuropsychiatric diseases
1.1.4. Gamma oscillations as biomarker of depression
1.2. Serotonin in the brain
1.2.1. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
1.2.2. 5-HT _{2C} R antagonists
2. Objectives
3. Results
3.1. Escitalopram experiment
3.1.1. Gamma power showed prominent variance with sleep-wake stages
3.1.2. Effects of acute escitalopram on gamma power
3.1.3. Effects of chronic escitalopram on gamma power
3.1.4. Acute and chronic escitalopram induced different changes in gamma power
3.2. SB-242084 experiment
3.2.1. Effects of acute SB-242084 on gamma power
3.2.2. Acute SB-242084 and chronic escitalopram induced similar changes in gamma power
3.2.3. Effects of the combination of acute SB-242084 and chronic escitalopram on gamma power
4. Discussion
4.1. Effects of escitalopram
4.2. Effects of SB-242084
4.3. Combination of SSRIs and 5-HT _{2c} R antagonists
4.4. Relationship of gamma with other frequency bands
4.5. Gamma oscillations as potential biomarker of antidepressant response
4.6. Limitations

5. Conclusions	32
6. Summary	33
7. Összefoglalás – Summary in Hungarian	34
8. References	35
9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	45
9.1. Publications related to the PhD thesis	45
9.2. Publications not related to the PhD thesis	45

List of Abbreviations

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine, serotonin			
5-HT _{1A} R	serotonin 1A receptor			
5-HT _{2A} R	serotonin 2A receptor			
5-HT _{2C} R	serotonin 2C receptor			
ANOVA	analysis of variance			
AW	active wake			
CNS	central nervous system			
EEG	electroencephalography / electroencephalographic			
EMG	electromyography / electromyographic			
ESC	chronic escitalopram treatment			
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid			
ip.	intraperitoneal / intraperitoneally			
IS	intermediate stage of sleep			
non-REMS	non rapid eye movement sleep			
PV	parvalbumin			
PW	passive wake			
qEEG	quantitative electroencephalography			
REMS	rapid eye movement sleep			
SB	acute SB-242084 treatment			
SEM	standard error of mean			
SERT	serotonin transporter			
SSRI	selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor			
SWS	slow-wave sleep			
SWS-1	light slow-wave sleep			
SWS-2	deep slow-wave sleep			
veh	acute vehicle treatment			
VEH	chronic vehicle treatment			
W	wakefulness			

1. Introduction

Electroencephalography (EEG) records the electrical activity of the brain, thus provides objective, real-time information about the actual (physiological or pathological) state of the brain. This method enables us, for example, to distinguish sleep-wake stages, to identify epileptic seizures, moreover, to investigate neuronal oscillations, event-related potentials, brain network connectivity, or even, indirectly, cognitive functions.

The use of EEG in the diagnosis of various neurological diseases (epilepsy, sleep disorders such as sleep apnea and narcolepsy, etc.) is common, and EEG is a valuable tool for experimental studies in neuroscience and neuropsychopharmacology (pharmaco-EEG) as well. A classical approach is to study the sleep-wake architecture. On the other hand, quantitative EEG (qEEG) studies alterations of neuronal oscillations.

1.1. Rhythms of the brain

EEG oscillatory pattern, recorded as field potentials on scalp in humans or on cortical surface in rodents, stems from the synchronous electrical activity of a great number of cortical neurons, and reflects alterations in network functions of the brain. These oscillations are highly conserved in mammals, regardless of species and brain size (1), hence they provide translatable results across rodent and human studies (2). In this section, I shortly present the various oscillations, their typical presence in the EEG during different sleep-wake (vigilance) stages, and their disturbances in depression, focusing on gamma oscillations.

1.1.1. Frequency bands of the EEG

EEG signals (waves), localized in time and space, are characterized by amplitude (voltage) and frequency. While amplitude refers to the number of synchronous firing cells in the area detected by the electrode in that moment, oscillations within different frequency bands are associated with different brain functions. Thus, frequency provides a reasonable basis for classification.

Brain oscillations cover >4 orders of magnitude in frequency, from the infraslow (<0.01 Hz) to ultrafast rhythms, and include at least 10 oscillation classes (1). The most commonly used, well-established ones are the followings (the exact limits may slightly

vary between studies): delta (1-4 Hz), theta (5-9 Hz), alpha (10-13 Hz), beta (14-29 Hz), and gamma (\geq 30 Hz) oscillations. In our studies (3, 4) and this thesis we define gamma frequency band between 30-60 Hz, that is also known as low-gamma band. **Table 1** presents a short synopsis.

EEG rhythm	Frequency	EEG pattern	Typical vigilance stage
	band (Hz)		in rats
Delta	0.5-4		Slow-wave sleep
Theta	5-9	·····	REMS, wakefulness
Alpha	9-13	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Light slow-wave sleep
Beta	14-29	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Wakefulness
Gamma	30-60		Wakefulness

 Table 1 - Basic EEG rhythms and their characteristics (3, 5)

Gamma band oscillations are relatively high-frequency components of the EEG spectrum. In the generation of these oscillations, parvalbumin-positive (PV+) and somatostatin-positive GABAergic interneurons have been demonstrated to play an important role (6, 7). Gamma oscillations are thought to reflect neuronal population dynamics, and have been associated with several cognitive and sensory functions, neural plasticity and memory processes in both animals and humans (8, 9). Conversely, an abnormal gamma EEG activity has been described in several psychiatric conditions (9), detailed in section 1.1.4.

1.1.2. Sleep and wakefulness

Sleep is a fundamental phenomenon, its good quality and quantity are vital for physical and mental health. The occurrence and timing of the three main vigilance stages, wakefulness, rapid eye movement sleep (REMS), and non-REMS is regulated in the brain by multiple neuroanatomic circuits and related neurochemical systems. The EEG that visualizes alterations in the global pattern of neuronal activity and the electromyogram (EMG) that monitors changes in muscle tone are excellent biomarkers of sleep-wake stages in both humans and animals (10). Each stage is accompanied by a characteristic EEG pattern, allowing the differentiation and separated examination.

Wakefulness is characterized by low-voltage, high-frequency (fast) EEG activity and high muscle tone. These fast oscillations stem from synchronized neuronal activity in small, functionally interrelated areas. In contrast, theta rhythm that is also typical in this stage, is generated over more widespread areas and synchronizes faster, locally generated rhythms (beta and gamma) that presumably provide a temporal framework for higher-order CNS functions such as conscious awareness, attention, memory formation (5). In contrast, non-REMS is defined by high-voltage, low-frequency (slow, therefore this stage is also called slow-wave sleep, SWS) EEG and reduced muscle tone. The predominant frequency band during non-REMS is delta (5). Delta EEG power is commonly interpreted as marker of sleep intensity. During REMS, the behavioral components of sleep and the electrophysiological profiles of wakefulness are combined, as low-voltage fast EEG activity are coupled with muscle atonia (complete loss of muscle tone). Hence, this stage is also known as paradoxical sleep. Rapid eye movements are peculiar REMS phenomena in contrast to the slow rolling eye movements occurring during non-REMS. The marked, synchronous theta activity results in a characteristic EEG pattern (5).

These main stages of the sleep-wake architecture can be further divided for a more detailed analysis. In our rat experiments, we differentiated two stages of wakefulness (active and passive, primarily based on locomotor activity), and four stages of non-REMS (light and deep slow-wave sleep, and intermediate stage of sleep, based on EEG patterns), in addition to REMS (3, 4, 11).

1.1.3. Relevance of EEG in neuropsychiatric diseases

Neuronal oscillations and sleep-wake architecture are key mechanisms that support synaptic plasticity and cognitive functions, disruption of which has been described in numerous neuropsychiatric disorders including depression (12, 13). Cognitive dysfunctions in depression might include learning, memory processes, sustained attention, as well as executive function (14).

Impaired sleep-wake architecture is common in depressed patients and also in animal models of depression, namely, disinhibition of REMS (demonstrated as increased total REMS time and reduced REMS latency), reduction of non-REMS, and impaired sleep continuity are characteristic symptoms (13, 15, 16). As both REMS and non-REMS have a role in memory formation, these alterations of the sleep-wake architecture are suggested

to affect memory processes (17). In addition, most antidepressants affect the sleep-wake cycle, in particular, generally suppress REMS, i.e. they induce effects in the opposite direction to those observed in depression (18).

Abnormal EEG oscillatory activity in depressed patients has also been widely described, affecting mostly theta, alpha and beta frequencies (19-21). However, changes in the gamma band are less investigated, despite the abovementioned role of these oscillations in cognitive and sensory functions (22, 23). Depressed patients have been found to display increased gamma activity in response to emotional stimuli (negative words), that also suggests gamma-band EEG as a marker of semantic information processing (24). Another study has demonstrated a correlation between attention deficit and low-gamma (and beta) power in patients with depression (25). The alteration of late gamma-band responses to positive information has been linked to depression recurrence risk, in humans (26). Importantly, a temporal association between beta as well as gamma oscillations and secretory pulses of cortisol has been demonstrated in humans (27). Considering that hyperactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, that is among the most consistent physiological findings in depression, disrupts cortisol secretion in depressed patients (28), the relevance of high-frequency oscillations in this disorder is further supported. Nevertheless, evidence from animal experiments have also confirmed the relationship of gamma activity and depression. In mice, the involvement of gamma oscillation (namely, the restoration of gamma activity at the network level) in the remission of depression-like behavior (induced by chronic restraint stress) has been described (29). In rats subjected to another model of depression, chronic early life stress, has been shown to disrupt maturation of gamma oscillations in the hippocampus (30).

Besides, further supporting the key role of gamma rhythm in normal brain functioning, disturbed gamma band oscillations have been observed in several other neuropsychiatric diseases, such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (31). In schizophrenia, negative symptoms have been correlated with decreased gamma activity, while an increase has been found during positive symptoms, e.g. hallucinations (32). Additionally, increased gamma activity has been reported in epileptic patients, whereas reduced gamma activity can be observed in Alzheimer's disease (33). Notwithstanding, gamma oscillations have been reported to weaken with age, even in healthy elderly (34).

Gamma power represents a physiological correlate of enhanced excitatory to inhibitory (E/I) balance, whereas reduced E/I balance has been suggested in major depression (35). Aberrant network function of gamma-generating GABAergic interneurons is considered to be involved in the development of cognitive and mood impairments in mental disorders such as bipolar depression (36, 37). In line with this, postmortem studies have demonstrated decreased numbers of PV+ interneurons in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus in bipolar patients. As a consequence, it has been hypothesized that such alterations of these specific GABAergic neurons might reflect vulnerability toward mental disorders (38, 39). As PV+ interneurons are essential for proper brain function but are highly susceptible to environmental disturbances (leading to their role in several neuropsychiatric disorders), novel therapeutic strategies targeting them selectively have been proposed recently (40). The clinical potential of restoring gamma signaling via transcranial brain stimulation has also been suggested in several neuropsychiatric disorders (41, 42).

1.1.4. Gamma oscillations as biomarker of depression

To identify reliable and sensitive biomarkers of major depression, that would support implementing precision medicine approaches in psychiatry, is challenging yet crucial for improving diagnosis as well as treatment of this increasingly common and debilitating disorder (43). Several parameters of the EEG during both wakefulness and sleep have been proposed as possible biomarkers of depression and predictors of treatment response, for example, prefrontal qEEG cordance (13). In recent years, as a growing body of evidence suggests an important role of gamma activity in the pathomechanism and course of depression, alterations of these oscillations also have been implicated as novel biomarker or endophenotype of the disease (43). Key findings on the role of gamma oscillations in depression suggest the followings. Under certain circumstances it might distinguish depressed patients from healthy subjects, moreover, bipolar from unipolar depression, as pointed out previously. On the other hand, numerous antidepressant treatments (pharmacological agents as well as other therapies) have been reported to affect gamma activity too. However, it is still unknown whether these alterations are indicators of disease status, causative mediators of therapeutic effects, or signs of side effects (43, 44).

1.2. Serotonin in the brain

Within the central nervous system (CNS), the monoamine neurotransmitter serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) participates in numerous regulatory functions such as sleep-wake behavior, mood, cognition, sexual function, thermoregulation, and appetite. It has been established that 5-HT dysfunction is involved in the pathophysiology of depression. Accordingly, most antidepressant drugs act on the serotonergic system, namely, cause an increase in synaptic levels of 5-HT. Serotonergic neurons fire most actively in wakefulness, less intensively in non-REMS, and fall silent in REMS (45). So, it is not surprising that serotonergic antidepressants can influence the sleep-wake cycle too, namely, increased wakefulness (i.e. insomnia) and REMS suppression are commonly observed side effects of these drugs (18, 45). The serotonergic system has been considered an important modulator of sleep-wake architecture (45) as well as brain oscillations (46-48), although the involved mechanisms and receptors are complex and poorly understood.

The effects of 5-HT are mediated through 14 distinct 5-HT receptor subtypes (49), among which we focus in this thesis on serotonin 2C receptors (5-HT_{2C}Rs). However, the most important target of currently used serotonergic antidepressants is the serotonin transporter (SERT or 5-HTT), the protein that carries 5-HT from the synaptic cleft back to the presynaptic neuron (reuptake).

1.2.1. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are commonly prescribed, first-line antidepressants. Primarily targeting SERT, these drugs increase extracellular 5-HT levels via inhibiting its reuptake. Escitalopram, the more effective *S*-enantiomer of *RS*-citalopram (the racemate) with high selectivity for SERT, is a leading member of the class, due to its relatively good efficacy and tolerability profiles (50, 51).

SSRIs including citalopram and escitalopram have been reported to affect the sleepwake cycle in humans (52, 53), mice (54, 55), and rats (56-58). For instance, acute treatment with escitalopram has been reported to inhibit REMS generation and deep nonREMS, while following chronic treatment with the drug, all these changes diminished except some increase in REMS latency (59). Effects on EEG rhythms have also been described, namely, a reduction of low-frequency oscillations in humans (60) and rats (57). A decrease in theta power has been reported during active wakefulness and REMS following acute but not chronic escitalopram administration in rats (59). In patients with moderate major depression, an increase in combined delta-theta (2.5-8 Hz) power and a decrease in alpha power have been found 1 week after escitalopram treatment (61).

Although the EEG spectral effects of escitalopram on lower frequencies have been intensively investigated, our knowledge regarding gamma oscillations is limited. The available studies in humans (62) and in rats (63) failed to find an effect of escitalopram on gamma oscillations. However, several evidence suggests the influence of escitalopram on connectivity (64-66), attention (67), memory (68, 69), and synaptic plasticity (70, 71) – CNS functions those disturbances in depression have been inevitably demonstrated.

Considering the role of gamma rhythm in depression, it is essential to elucidate how these oscillations are affected by antidepressants at the beginning of treatment (acute effects) as well as during its maintenance (chronic effects). Importantly, the onset of therapeutic action of SSRIs including escitalopram is delayed (presumably due to receptor desensitization), indicating that acute and chronic effects often differ (as seen above too). Moreover, regarding the relationship between cognitive functions and gamma oscillations, research on gamma effects of escitalopram might provide new insights to cognitive aspects of antidepressant therapy (3).

1.2.2. 5-HT₂CR antagonists

5-HT_{2C}Rs are widely distributed in the CNS, and have an important role in the 5-HTergic regulation of numerous functions including sleep, anxiety, memory processes, as well as hormonal secretion, feeding behavior, and locomotor activity (72, 73). 5-HT_{2C}R dysfunction has been implicated in, among other pathological conditions, depression and anxiety (73, 74). Furthermore, a great number of antidepressant, anxiolytic, and antipsychotic drugs possess affinities to 5-HT_{2C}Rs as well, that antagonism might be involved in the efficacy of these drugs (73-75). Therefore, 5-HT_{2C}R has been proposed as a promising target in developing new therapies for several neuropsychiatric disorders including depression (73, 74).

Whereas the stimulation of $5\text{-HT}_{2C}Rs$ in certain brain regions has been found to be anxiogenic, subtype-selective $5\text{-HT}_{2C}R$ antagonists such as SB-242084 produced marked anxiolytic effects (75-77). Moreover, the selective $5\text{-HT}_{2C}R$ antagonists SB-242084 and RS-102221 have been reported to exert fast-onset (5 days versus 14 days in case of citalopram) antidepressant-like effects in mouse models of depression (78). Other work has shown that $5\text{-HT}_{2C}R$ blockade potentiated the antidepressant and anxiolytic, while reduced motor side effects of the SSRI fluoxetine in mice, highlighting the potential advantages of this combination (79). Thus, a growing body of evidence supports the idea that selective $5\text{-HT}_{2C}R$ antagonists may be beneficial in the therapy of depression and/or anxiety, although no clinical studies have been conducted yet.

A few articles have been published on qualitative or quantitative EEG effects of selective 5- $HT_{2C}R$ antagonists, reporting reduced time spent in REMS and enhanced theta power during active wakefulness and REMS (77, 80). However, until our work, none of them have investigated effects on gamma oscillations. Considering these agents as putative antidepressants (alone or in combination with an SSRI) and taking into account the relationship between gamma rhythm and depression, it is relevant to fill this gap in the literature (4).

2. Objectives

Based on the above mentioned aspects, our aims were the followings:

- We intended to investigate how gamma activity varies during each sleep-wake stage, namely, active and passive wakefulness, light and deep slow-wave sleep, intermediate stage of sleep, and rapid eye movement sleep (AW, PW, SWS-1, SWS-2, IS, and REMS, respectively).
- 2. Does the SSRI escitalopram influence gamma power during any of the sleep-wake stages, when acutely administered?
- 3. Does escitalopram influence gamma power during any of the sleep-wake stages, when chronically administered?
- 4. Is there any similarity or difference between the acute and chronic effects of escitalopram on gamma power?
- 5. Does the 5-HT_{2C}R antagonist SB-242084 influence gamma power during any of the sleep-wake stages, when acutely administered?
- 6. Is there any similarity or difference between the chronic effects of escitalopram and the acute effects of SB-242084 on gamma power?
- 7. Does the combination of chronic escitalopram and acute SB-242084 influence gamma power during any of the sleep-wake stages?

To examine these questions, we conducted two series of EEG experiments, using rats equipped with EEG/EMG electrodes. The first, hereafter referred to as *"Escitalopram experiment"* was aimed to find answers to the previous 1-4. questions, whereas the second *("SB-242084 experiment")* to questions 5-7.

We gained EEG data from frontoparietal derivation during the first 3 h of passive phase, immediately after the injections. For further details, see Methods sections of the two publications, on which this thesis is based (3, 4).

3. Results

3.1. Escitalopram experiment

3.1.1. Gamma power showed prominent variance with sleep-wake stages

To examine the potential alterations of gamma activity during different sleep-wake stages, we summarized EEG power values in the gamma frequency band (30-60 Hz) in each stage, and pooled data of control rats, i.e. those treated with acute or chronic vehicle. As shown in **Figure 1**, total gamma band power was clearly sleep-wake stage-dependent (significant one-way ANOVA for repeated measures, $F_{5.0,60.0}$ = 129.4, p < 0.0001).

The highest gamma activity was observed in AW and REMS. According to Bonferroni *post hoc* results, no significant difference was found between these two stages. In contrast, all the other stages showed significantly lower gamma band power compared to AW. While gamma power in PW was 75% of that in AW, in non-REMS stages it was notably less, namely, 23% in SWS-1, 12% in SWS-2, and 16% in IS, respectively.



Figure 1 - Differences of gamma band (30-60 Hz) total power between sleep-wake stages in the control groups. The columns represent mean \pm SEM values of n = 13 animals in the summarized first 3 h of passive (light) phase during active and passive wakefulness (AW, PW), light and deep slow-wave sleep (SWS-1, SWS-2), intermediate stage of sleep (IS), and rapid eye movement sleep (REMS), respectively. Significant *post hoc* results, compared to AW (* p < 0.01), PW (# p < 0.01) and REMS (§ p < 0.01) are marked.

Based on these results, we present EEG power spectra in the six sleep-wake stages grouped as follows:

- Stages associated with relatively high gamma activity: AW, PW, and REMS (Figure 3 for *Escitalopram experiment*, Figure 5 for *SB-242084 experiment*),
- Stages associated with relatively low gamma activity: SWS-1, SWS-2, and IS (Figure 4 for *Escitalopram experiment*, Figure 6 for *SB-242084 experiment*).

When all sleep-wake stages are shown (Figure 1, Figure 2) and when describing the results, we present them in the order in which they usually follow each other during the sleep-wake cycle.

3.1.2. Effects of acute escitalopram on gamma power

According to results of two-way ANOVA for repeated measures, acute escitalopram did not affect gamma power significantly during wake stages (AW, PW, **Figure 3 A, B**) or during slow-wave sleep stages (SWS-1, SWS-2, **Figure 4 A, B**). During IS, acute escitalopram treatment caused a reduction in gamma power (treatment effect: $F_{1,12} =$ 4.925, p = 0.0465, **Figure 4 C**). Finally, acute escitalopram reduced gamma power markedly during REMS (treatment effect: $F_{1,11} = 5.613$, p = 0.0372, frequency × treatment interaction: $F_{30,330} = 3.246$, p < 0.0001, **Figure 3 C**). REMS data had been calculated from only n = 6 rats, due to the REMS suppressing effect of acute escitalopram.

3.1.3. Effects of chronic escitalopram on gamma power

Similarly to acute treatment, neither chronic escitalopram did affect gamma power significantly during wake stages (AW, PW, **Figure 3 A, B**). However, in contrast to acute treatment, chronic administration of escitalopram caused a marked increase in gamma power during SWS-1 (treatment effect: $F_{1,11} = 12.10$, p = 0.0052, frequency × treatment interaction: $F_{30,330} = 5.660$, p < 0.0001, **Figure 4 A**) and during SWS-2 (treatment effect: $F_{1,11} = 9.667$, p = 0.0099, frequency × treatment interaction: $F_{30,330} = 6.508$, p < 0.0001, **Figure 4 B**). During IS, chronic escitalopram caused an elevation in gamma power (frequency x treatment interaction: $F_{30,330} = 5.114$, p < 0.0001, **Figure 4 C**). Lastly, during REMS, no significant effect was seen after chronic escitalopram treatment (**Figure 3 C**).

3.1.4. Acute and chronic escitalopram induced different changes in gamma power As a short summary, our results demonstrated that escitalopram administered acutely or chronically altered EEG power in the gamma band differently. The effects showed prominent sleep-wake stage-dependency. Figure 2 presents these alterations for the summarized gamma frequency band (30–60 Hz), while Figure 3 and Figure 4 provide a deeper insight showing power spectra with individual frequencies of the gamma range.



Figure 2 - Changes of gamma band (30-60 Hz) total power after acute and chronic escitalopram treatment during active and passive wakefulness (AW, PW), light and deep slow-wave sleep (SWS-1, SWS-2), intermediate stage of sleep (IS), and rapid eye movement sleep (REMS). Each column represents mean \pm SEM values of n = 6-7 animals per group, relative to the appropriate vehicle control, in the summarized first 3 h of passive (light) phase. * significant ANOVA results (p < 0.05)



Figure 3 - Changes of the EEG spectral power in the gamma frequency band after acute and chronic escitalopram treatment during sleep-wake stages associated with higher gamma activity: (A) active wakefulness (AW), (B) passive wakefulness (PW), and (C) rapid eye movement sleep (REMS). Each point represents mean \pm SEM values of n = 6-7 animals per group, relative to the appropriate vehicle control, in the summarized first 3 h of passive (light) phase. * significant *post hoc* results (p < 0.05)



Figure 4 - Changes of the EEG spectral power in the gamma frequency band after acute and chronic escitalopram treatment during stages associated with lower gamma activity: (A) light slow-wave sleep (SWS-1), (B) deep slow-wave sleep (SWS-2), and (C) intermediate stage of sleep (IS). Each point represents mean \pm SEM values of n = 6-7 animals per group, relative to the appropriate vehicle control, in the summarized first 3 h of passive (light) phase. * significant *post hoc* results (p < 0.05)

3.2. SB-242084 experiment

In the second experiment, we investigated and compared the effects of chronic escitalopram (ESC+veh), acute SB-242084 (VEH+SB), their combination (ESC+SB), and a control group (VEH+veh) on EEG gamma power during the foregoing six sleep-wake stages.

3.2.1. Effects of acute SB-242084 on gamma power

During AW, no significant alterations were seen (two-way ANOVA for repeated measures, treatment effect: $F_{3,20} = 1.917$, p = 0.1594; treatment x frequency interaction: $F_{81,540} = 1.218$, p = 0.1081; Figure 5 A). Meanwhile during PW, acute treatment with SB-242084 caused a moderate elevation in gamma power (treatment effect: $F_{3,20} = 2.217$, p = 0.1176; treatment x frequency interaction: $F_{81,540} = 2.519$, p < 0.001; Figure 5 B). The most prominent effects were found in slow-wave sleep stages. Not only chronic escitalopram, but also acute SB-242084, as well as their combination caused an elevation in gamma power. This observation was supported by significant results of ANOVA in SWS-1 (treatment effect: $F_{3,20} = 3.692$, p = 0.0290; treatment x frequency interaction: $F_{81,540} = 2.693, p < 0.001$; Figure 6 A) and in SWS-2 (treatment effect: $F_{3,20} = 4.787, p =$ 0.0113; treatment x frequency interaction: $F_{81,540} = 1.911$, p < 0.001; Figure 6 B). In IS, the increase in gamma power was not significant (treatment effect: $F_{3,20} = 2.349$, p =0.1031, treatment x frequency interaction: $F_{81,540} = 1.241$, p = 0.0878; Figure 6 C). Finally, during REMS, the acute SB-242084 treatment did not affect gamma power (treatment effect: $F_{3,19} = 2.515$, p = 0.0891; treatment x frequency interaction: $F_{81,513} =$ 1.226, *p* = 0.1014; Figure 5 C).

3.2.2. Acute SB-242084 and chronic escitalopram induced similar changes in gamma power

Bonferroni *post hoc* results revealed no significant differences during any of the sleepwake stages between VEH+SB and ESC+veh groups, suggesting similar effects of acute SB-242084 and chronic escitalopram on EEG gamma power.

3.2.3. Effects of the combination of acute SB-242084 and chronic escitalopram on gamma power

As seen in **Figure 5** and **Figure 6**, the combined treatment caused apparently similar effects on gamma power to acute SB-242084 (and chronic escitalopram) alone. No significant *post hoc* differences were found when comparing either VEH+SB vs. ESC+SB or ESC+veh vs. ESC+SB groups, confirming the similarity of the effects and suggesting that the gamma power effects of the two treatments did not interfere. (In the ESC+SB group, we could calculate from data of n = 5 rats only, as one rat failed to enter REMS in this time period.)



Figure 5 - Changes of the EEG spectral power in the gamma frequency band after the administration of chronic escitalopram (ESC+veh), acute SB-242084 (VEH+SB), and their combination (ESC+SB) during stages associated with higher gamma activity: (A) active wakefulness (AW), (B) passive wakefulness (PW), and (C) rapid eye movement sleep (REMS). Each point represents mean \pm SEM values of n = 6animals per group, in the summarized first 3 h of passive (light) phase. * significant post hoc results (p < 0.05) compared to VEH+veh



Figure 6 - Changes of the EEG spectral power in the gamma frequency band after the administration of chronic escitalopram (ESC+veh), acute SB-242084 (VEH+SB), and their combination (ESC+SB) during stages associated with lower gamma activity: (A) light slow-wave sleep (SWS-1), (B) deep slow-wave sleep (SWS-2), and (C) intermediate stage of sleep (IS). Each point represents mean \pm SEM values of n = 6animals per group, in the summarized first 3 h of passive (light) phase. * significant post hoc results (p < 0.05) compared to VEH+veh

The explanation of the different data transformation methods used in the two studies is the following. In case of *Escitalopram experiment*, we normalized data, i.e. divided power values at each frequency bin by the total power of the whole EEG spectrum (1-60 Hz) in the given stage, in order to reduce inter-individual variability in the absolute power of the animals. The advantage of normalization in case of EEG power data is well demonstrated by the fact that it reduces SEM values of the group more than applying logarithmic or other transformation. This method was not applicable in case of SB-242084 experiment, due to the marked theta power elevation during AW and REMS induced by SB-242084 treatment (80). In these data sets, as the denominator (total power including theta) would be higher, the value of the fraction (normalized power per Hz) would be lower in the whole spectrum (including gamma band). We must note that these decreases result from treatment effects on lower frequencies, not on gamma band, thus, these normalized data would be biased. For this reason, we chose logarithmization instead of normalization in case of SB-242084 experiment. In contrast, in Escitalopram experiment, the theta power decrease caused by acute escitalopram was so moderate that it did not affect our main results (3, 59). According to two-way ANOVA results of logarithmized absolute EEG power data:

- AW: neither acute (F_{1,12} = 2.175, p = 0.1660), nor chronic escitalopram (F_{1,11} = 3.247, p = 0.0990) had an effect on gamma power;
- PW: neither acute (F_{1,12} = 1.208, p = 0.2933), nor chronic escitalopram (F_{1,11} = 4.110, p = 0.0676) had an effect on gamma power;
- SWS-1: acute escitalopram did not affect gamma power ($F_{1,12} = 1.785$, p = 0.2063), while chronic escitalopram had an effect ($F_{1,11} = 5.742$, p = 0.0355) on gamma power;
- SWS-2: acute escitalopram did not affect gamma power ($F_{1,12} = 1.536$, p = 0.2389), while chronic escitalopram had a trend for effect ($F_{1,11} = 4.437$, p = 0.0589) on gamma power;
- IS: acute escitalopram did not affect gamma power ($F_{1,12} = 1.821$, p = 0.2021), while chronic escitalopram had an effect ($F_{1,11} = 5.872$, p = 0.0338) on gamma power;
- REMS: both acute escitalopram ($F_{1,11} = 5.600$, p = 0.0374), and chronic escitalopram had an effect ($F_{1,11} = 5.562$, p = 0.0379) on gamma power

basically in accordance with results of normalized data.

4. Discussion

This work is aimed to present and summarize our findings about the effects of the SSRI antidepressant escitalopram (both acutely and chronically) and the 5-HT_{2C}R antagonist SB-242084 (with or without chronic escitalopram pretreatment) on the EEG gamma power in different sleep-wake stages.

To understand the possible background of our results, it is essential to take a closer look on the origin of the investigated brain rhythm. Gamma oscillations have been described in most cortical and subcortical areas of the brain, although in the activity registered by the EEG on cortical surfaces, the contribution of specific structures, mostly cortex, hippocampus, and thalamus is predominant. As mentioned in section 1.1, their generation is linked to PV+ GABAergic interneurons (6, 81), and to a lesser extent, to somatostatin-expressing interneurons (7). Assemblies of these interneurons generate high-frequency (>30 Hz) network oscillations, via exerting strong, rhythmic inhibition onto pyramidal neurons as well as other fast-spiking interneurons (8).

At first, we presented that the total power of gamma oscillations varied with sleepwake stages. Our results showing the highest gamma activity in AW and REMS are not surprising considering that these vigilance states are characterized by the highest levels of cortical activation. During PW and non-REMS stages, a significantly lower gamma power was observed, in line with the descending cortical activation levels from wakefulness to sleep. In accordance with our findings, a similar pattern has been reported in rats (82), whereas extra- and intracranial recordings (of epileptic patients) demonstrated higher gamma activity in wakefulness and lower in REMS and non-REMS (83). During both wakefulness and REMS, the desynchronized EEG activity resulting in high gamma power has been associated with an elevated cholinergic activity (84). However, the intra- and interhemispheric coherence of gamma rhythm has been reported significantly lower during REMS in comparison to that during wakefulness (82).

During wakefulness, an elevated gamma oscillatory activity has been related to focused attention (85), cognition (86), and sensory processing (87) in both humans and animals (8, 9). REMS has a crucial role in memory consolidation, specifically, promoting synaptic potentiation, via enhanced high-frequency oscillations and increased expression of genes related to plasticity (17, 88-90). Finally, the presence of gamma oscillations has

also been established during non-REMS in humans (91-93), monkeys (92), cats (94), and rats (95), also with an important role in memory consolidation (96). Whereas the role of gamma oscillations during wakefulness is extensively investigated, their functions and importance during sleep are still not fully understood.

4.1. Effects of escitalopram

Our results from the first experiment showed that the widely used SSRI antidepressant escitalopram differently modified the EEG gamma power in rats when administered acutely (10 mg/kg, ip.) and chronically (10 mg/kg/day for 21 days, osmotic minipumps). Moreover, the effect of the drug had a clear sleep-wake stage-dependency. Whereas acute treatment with escitalopram decreased gamma power in REMS and IS exclusively, chronic treatment with the same dose of the drug markedly increased gamma power in SWS-1 and SWS-2. Nonetheless, gamma power in AW and PW did not change as a result of either acute or chronic escitalopram administration.

In this experiment, we chose 10 mg/kg escitalopram dose, based on literature data demonstrating the effect of this treatment on sleep and EEG parameters (59, 80) as well as depressive-like behavior (97, 98) and extracellular 5-HT levels (99, 100) in rats. We analyzed effects in the first 3 h after the ip. injections (from lights on, i.e. in the passive phase), with respect to the 1.5 h half-life time of escitalopram reported in rats (101).

In wakefulness, our results revealed that neither acute nor chronic escitalopram treatment affected gamma activity. Accordingly, no alteration has been detected in frontal cortical EEG gamma power (30-50 Hz) in rats during AW, although in that study, escitalopram was applied in a smaller dose, 2 mg/kg (102). In (healthy) humans, no alteration has been found in gamma peak frequency when taking 10 mg/day escitalopram for 7-10 days (62), although another study has reported an increase in gamma power (103). Aside from these miscellaneous results (of studies using scarcely comparable methods), considering the crucial role of gamma oscillations in cognition, no negative effect of escitalopram on psychomotor function has been found in clinical studies with healthy participants (104) and depressed patients (105). Hence, we presumed that escitalopram, applied acutely or chronically, did not affect cortical network functions occurring in wakefulness reflected by EEG gamma oscillations recorded on cortical surfaces (3).

In contrast to wakefulness, during REMS (where a relatively high gamma activity was seen, similarly to wakefulness) and also during IS (the transition stage of REMS), a significant decrease in gamma power was found after acute escitalopram treatment. Interestingly, following chronic treatment, these changes disappeared. Several lines of evidence support the central role of REMS in the pathophysiology of depression. Characteristic alterations in REMS architecture, such as shortened REMS latency and increased REMS density, are commonly observed in depressed patients (13) and animal models of depression (106). Furthermore, most antidepressants inhibit REMS (13), while selective REMS deprivation induces antidepressant effect in humans (107). On the other hand, the active contribution of REMS has also been proposed in negative memory consolidation (108). For example, in patients suffering from depression, the amount of REMS or the awakenings from REMS have been reported to correlate with lower selfappraisal, higher suicidality scores, and more frequent negative emotions in REMS dreams in comparison to non-REMS dreams (109, 110). Therefore, it has been hypothesized that pathophysiological alterations in REMS might enhance the vulnerability to depression, including the recurrence of the disease (108). Considering the role of REMS in both depression and memory processes (111), the gamma power decreasing effect of acute escitalopram treatment during REMS and IS raises the question: is this alteration a critical early step in the development of the antidepressant effect or a side effect of the drug (3)? Clinical findings about the influence of antidepressants on memory are not consistent. For instance, while Wadsworth et al. have linked impaired episodic (but not semantic or working) memory with SSRI treatment, Gorenstein et al. have found the clinical relevance of disturbances in memory and psychomotor performances by SSRIs uncertain (105, 112). Furthermore, the SSRIinduced pharmacological REMS suppression (by acute fluvoxamine) has been reported to improve skill memory consolidation in healthy humans (113). Hence, disturbed consolidation of procedural memory, that is commonly observed in depressed patients, is unlikely to be a result of REMS suppression caused by antidepressants (114). In addition, chronic treatment with escitalopram has been demonstrated to improve both immediate and delayed verbal and nonverbal memory as well as work productivity in depressed patients (115). Importantly, both REMS and non-REMS stages are of high importance in memory processes. Whereas REMS favors procedural and emotional (i.e.

non-declarative) memory consolidation, non-REMS supports formation of declarative memories (17). However, in healthy humans, the suppression of REMS and SWS, declarative memory and motor consolidation have been correlated (116). Our results showed that chronic treatment with escitalopram increased the EEG gamma power in non-REMS stages (SWS-1 and SWS-2), while acute treatment with the drug failed to produce this effect. Le Van Quyen et al. have described that population activity of cortical neurons in non-REMS is presumably orchestrated by high-frequency (beta and gamma) oscillations, and through this mechanism these rhythms might be involved in the reactivation of information during sleep (92). Considering the role of non-REMS in memory formation and the function of high-frequency (including gamma) oscillations in non-REMS, we hypothesized that elevation in gamma power caused by chronic escitalopram might affect local network communication in non-REMS, thus, it might serve as a marker of its antidepressant effect (3). This hypothesis is supported by findings demonstrating that chronic administration of different SSRIs improved declarative memory (both emotional and neutral) in depressed patients, by improving anterior cingulate function (117). However, further studies are needed to prove this concept.

As described earlier, in the generation of gamma oscillations, a crucial role of PV+ fast-spiking interneurons exerting feed-back and feed-forward inhibition of pyramidal neurons has been demonstrated (118). Alterations in the synchrony of gamma oscillations (manifested as EEG power) can be induced either by directly modulating pyramidal neurons or by modulating other cells of the network thus indirectly influencing pyramidal neurons. Regarding the effect of escitalopram on gamma oscillations (and other brain rhythms as well), the elevation of extracellular 5-HT levels is crucial. However, PET studies in humans have provided evidence that at the beginning of treatment, 5-HT levels rather reduce in serotonergic projection areas (119). The marked difference between acute and chronic effects of escitalopram may serve as an explanation of these findings. In acute treatment, escitalopram activates somatodendritic 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors on neurons of the dorsal raphe nucleus, resulting in decreased firing rate of serotonergic neurons. However, in long-term treatment, the desensitization of 5-HT_{1A}Rs allows the recovery of the firing rate of these neurons (120, 121), that explains the delayed onset of clinical effect. Of all cortical regions in the brain, prefrontal cortex is the area most enriched in 5-HT receptors: the co-expression of 5-HT_{1A}Rs and 5-HT_{2A}Rs has been described in ~80% of neurons

including excitatory pyramidal neurons (122) and PV+ fast-spiking interneurons (123). Activation of 5-HT_{1A}Rs induce hyperpolarization of pyramidal neurons, whereas activation of 5-HT_{2A}Rs leads to depolarization, reduced after-hyperpolarization, and increased firing rate as well as excitatory postsynaptic potentials. In cortical areas, 5-HT administration has been reported to cause a biphasic effect, namely, hyperpolarization followed by depolarization (124), that might be attributed to the aforementioned frequent co-expression of 5-HT_{1A}Rs and 5-HT_{2A}Rs (125, 126). Puig et al. have shown that 5-HT potently controls (primarily downregulates) prefrontal gamma oscillations (30-80 Hz), by finely tuning the amplitude through 5-HT_{1A}R (and to a lesser extent through 5-HT_{2A}R) expressing fast-spiking interneurons, inducing an overall reduction in gamma power (123). In line with this, 5-HT_{1A}R activation has been shown to suppress ketamine-induced hippocampal gamma rhythm, as a result of reduced hyperpolarization and afterpolarization frequency of CA3 pyramidal neurons, but not PV+ interneurons (127). I have to note that, similarly to 5-HT_{1A}R desensitization, chronic SSRI treatment has been reported to induce adaptive changes in the function of 5-HT_{2A}Rs too, although with miscellaneous results (128-131). Taken together, the differential gamma activity alteration caused by acute and chronic escitalopram treatment our results revealed, might be the consequence of a biphasic effect of both 5-HT_{1A}Rs and 5-HT_{2A}Rs (3).

4.2. Effects of SB-242084

Results of the second experiment showed that the acute administration of the 5- $HT_{2C}R$ antagonist SB-242084 (1 mg/kg, ip.) enhanced the EEG gamma power in SWS-1, SWS-2, and PW, in rats. Interestingly, these effects seemed very similar to the effects of chronic escitalopram treatment in most sleep-wake stages, in other words, the selective antagonism on 5- $HT_{2C}R$ resulted in similar effects on gamma oscillations as the chronic inhibition of 5-HTT and additional effects escitalopram induces (4).

In this experiment, we chose 1 mg/kg SB-242084 dose, based on former literature data demonstrating the effect of this treatment on sleep architecture and EEG parameters (80, 132-134) as well as behavior (78, 135, 136) in rodents. Notably, Kantor et al. have reported that although both 0.3 and 1.0 mg/kg doses of SB-242084 produced anxiolysis, prominent effects on the sleep-wake cycle (wake promotion and SWS-2 suppression) were observed only in case of the 1.0 mg/kg dose, in Sprague-Dawley rats (77).

A limited amount of literature data is available about the qEEG effects of SB-242084 or other 5-HT_{2C}R antagonists, and until our study, none of them investigated gamma oscillations. However, Schulz et al. analyzed the acetylcholine and physostigmine induced gamma power altering effects of antipsychotic drugs in rat hippocampal slices (in the CA3 region), and found that whereas 5-HT₃Rs enhanced and dopamine D₃ receptors inhibited gamma oscillations, 5-HT_{2C}Rs did not affect them (137). Accordingly, in the abovementioned study, Puig et al. have reported that although 5-HT *per se* affected gamma activity, this effect was not mediated through 5-HT_{2C}Rs, but through 5-HT_{1A}Rs and 5-HT_{2A}Rs, in anesthetized rats (123). Besides, gamma activity is modulated by other monoamine neurotransmitters as well. A growing body of evidence supports the role of the dopaminergic system in synchronizing fast-spiking interneurons and modulating gamma oscillations (138, 139).

5-HT_{2C}Rs have been found on GABAergic interneurons in numerous areas of the brain, and are also expressed by dopaminergic neurons, but not by serotonergic and noradrenergic neurons. Several preclinical data suggest the role of these receptors in the modulation of monoaminergic (serotonergic, noradrenergic, and also dopaminergic) systems (74, 140), that we must take into consideration to explain our findings. Constitutive activity of 5-HT_{2C}Rs has been described to inhibit the activity of dopaminergic neurons, that could be reversed by 5-HT_{2C}R antagonists. Both SB-242084 and SB-206553 increased basal dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens and striatum. Yet, the SB-242084 induced dopamine release was modest and limited, in comparison to SB-206553 (141).

Meanwhile, SSRIs have also been suggested in the regulation of dopaminergic signaling. Whereas acute treatment with escitalopram has been found to increase the firing rate of dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (142), others have observed a decrease in firing rate of these neurons following a 2-week-long escitalopram treatment, in anesthetized rats (143). The possible implication of both 5-HT_{2C}R antagonists and SSRIs in dopaminergic signaling might serve as an explanation for the similar effects on gamma oscillations, however, more studies are needed to reinforce this idea. Nevertheless, this similarity might be an indirect evidence of the antidepressant and/or anxiolytic effect of SB-242084.

4.3. Combination of SSRIs and 5-HT_{2c}R antagonists

In the second experiment, effects of SB-242084 on the EEG gamma power were investigated not only alone but also after chronic escitalopram pretreatment. According to our results, similar alterations were induced by chronic escitalopram, acute SB-242084, and their combination in most vigilance stages, namely, all of the treatments caused an enhancement of gamma power in SWS-1 and SWS-2. These findings suggest that the two treatments did not interfere (neither potentiation nor inhibition was apparent), i.e. the $5-HT_{2C}R$ antagonist did not modify any further the effects of the SSRI on gamma activity, or vice versa (4).

Our study was the first to investigate gamma power effects of this combination, although Kostyalik et al. have studied effects on lower frequencies and on sleep-wake architecture, also in rats. They have reported that SB-242084 increased PW and suppressed REMS, which latter effect was attenuated by chronic escitalopram pretreatment. QEEG analysis revealed increased theta power in AW and REMS by SB-242084, which effect however was not altered by chronic escitalopram (80). The SSRI-related attenuation in particular EEG parameters induced by the 5-HT_{2C}R antagonist has been associated with the presumed dissociative adaptation of $5-HT_{2C}Rs$ (80), that might be the explanation of our results as well. On the other hand, non-EEG studies have demonstrated the interaction of the two treatments when applied in combination. In a rat study using microdialysis, acute SB-242084 or RS-102221 (another 5-HT_{2C}R antagonist) have been found to augment citalopram-induced 5-HT increases in the ventral hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (144). Conversely, SB-242084 pretreatment has been reported to reverse the citalopram-induced increased fear expression, in rats (145). Moreover, after a chronic (21-day-long) fluoxetine pretreatment, acute SB-242084 treatment has been shown to reduce depression- and anxiety-like behaviors, and to ameliorate certain SSRI-induced side effects, in mice (79).

Considering our hypothesis that the enhanced gamma activity in non-REMS, affecting local network communication, might serve as a marker of an antidepressant effect, and the promising results of behavioral studies, applying SB-242084 alone or at the beginning of a chronic treatment with escitalopram might be beneficial.

4.4. Relationship of gamma with other frequency bands

As a result of cross-frequency coupling (an effective mechanism to functionally link active cortical circuits), slower rhythms, theta in particular, modulate the power of gamma oscillations (8, 146). Gamma oscillations often occur synchronously with theta during active wakefulness and REMS, moreover, gamma and theta waves occur in the same brain regions (5, 147). Hippocampal theta oscillations have been extensively investigated for decades. These waves play a crucial role in memory processes and several other CNS functions, in both humans and animals (148-151), and are under ascending serotonergic control by the brainstem raphe nuclei (152). Thus not surprisingly, escitalopram has been demonstrated to affect these oscillations, according to literature data. While acute escitalopram has been reported to decrease theta power in the most relevant stages, namely, AW and REMS, chronic treatment failed to produce such an effect, in rats (3, 59). As an explanation, the acute SSRI-induced increase in 5-HT levels leads to somatodendritic 5-HT_{1A}R activation, resulting in reduced theta activity (153), whereas the desensitization of 5-HT_{1A}Rs is likely to cause the lack of theta-reducing effects following chronic escitalopram treatment (3, 121). Although our results showed no effect on gamma oscillations after escitalopram administration during AW, the acute treatment caused a power reduction during REMS, that may be related to the theta decrease in this stage. However, more accurate studies are needed to investigate this possible relationship. Meanwhile, in case of acute SB-242084 treatment, an opposite effect, namely, a theta power increase has been reported during AW and REMS, in rats (77, 80). Accordingly, 5-HT_{2C}Rs have been demonstrated to play a key role in the regulation of hippocampal theta activity (123, 154). As SB-242084 did not affect gamma activity during AW and REMS, these effects seem to be governed by independent mechanisms.

The less studied beta band oscillations are relatively high-frequency waves, adjacent to gamma band, and these two types of oscillations have some common features. Beta waves have been implicated in sensorimotor and motor processes (155, 156), and also in depression, namely, the dominance of these oscillations in relation to other bands during resting-state condition has been described as a unique qEEG alteration in depressed patients (19, 157). Escitalopram has also been shown to alter beta oscillations, most prominently during SWS-1 and SWS-2. Whereas a reduced beta power has been observed after acute escitalopram treatment (that did not affect gamma band), interestingly, a

parallel increase with the elevated gamma band power has been found as a result of chronic escitalopram treatment (3). The relevance of these findings is further supported by the work of Le Van Quyen et al. underlining the involvement of both beta and gamma oscillations during SWS in memory consolidation, specifically, the reactivation of information (92). Regarding SB-242084, previous data suggest no effect on beta oscillations in any of the sleep-wake stages (77).

4.5. Gamma oscillations as potential biomarker of antidepressant response

In terms of using the EEG as a measure of antidepressant effects, several lines of evidence support that a variety of early changes in a number of EEG parameters correlate with antidepressant response, moreover, that in certain circumstances the EEG can identify patients likely to respond to treatment (158). Fitzgerald and Watson have reviewed literature data supporting the role of gamma oscillations as biomarker of depression, and have hypothesized that optimal mood may be associated with an "optimal amount" of gamma activity or a proper balance across certain involved brain regions, such as prefrontal cortex or hippocampus (43, 159). Although in this thesis, gamma signaling was not investigated region-specifically, the examination of sleep-wake stage-dependency is also of high importance and a less frequently applied aspect. The presented results further support the hypothesis about the relationship between EEG gamma alterations and antidepressant effects.

4.6. Limitations

The findings of this thesis should be interpreted in the context of some limitations. First, we used small sample sizes. Second, we did not investigate whether the effects of the drugs on the EEG gamma oscillations are dose-dependent. Third, we recorded EEG using one derivation (from the left frontoparietal cortical surface), resulting in limited spatial resolution, as written above. Fourth, the upper frequency limit of our analysis was 60 Hz due to the nominal sampling rate. Further studies are required to involve these aspects and to extend the analysis to higher frequencies.

5. Conclusions

The EEG gamma oscillations during wakefulness were not affected by escitalopram treatment either acutely or chronically, suggesting that the SSRI did not interfere with brain functions linked to the synchrony of gamma rhythm in this stage. Considering the role of REMS in both depression and memory functions, the gamma power decreasing effect of acute escitalopram treatment indicates that administration of the drug might affect memory processes at the beginning of therapy. However, this effect may also be an early step in the development of antidepressant effect. The enhancement of gamma power during non-REMS caused by chronic escitalopram treatment may reflect an improvement in local network communication, that is likely to serve as a marker of therapeutic effect. While acute and chronic escitalopram induced similar effects in this frequency band of the EEG, that supports preclinical findings demonstrating that short-term 5-HT₂cR antagonist treatment may have antidepressant effects. The combination of the two treatments did not cause any further alteration of gamma power, suggesting that the increased serotonergic tone by the chronic SSRI pretreatment did not affect 5-HT₂cR function.

Still, further studies are needed to clarify the molecular background underlying gamma rhythms. Also, the relationship between gamma signaling, aberrant cognitive network functions and behavior should be further investigated in depression or its animal models, and particularly, how conventional and putative antidepressants influence these. Solving this question might enable us to identify reliable EEG biomarkers to predict or test the efficacy of antidepressant therapies in an accurate, non-invasive, yet cost-effective way.

6. Summary

Identifying reliable biomarkers that objectively reflect the underlying neurobiological processes is of high importance for improving both the diagnosis and the treatment of depression. A growing body of evidence supports the role of gamma oscillations, measured by electroencephalography (EEG), in the development and course of depression, and also in testing antidepressant efficacy. Escitalopram, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), is one of the most commonly prescribed antidepressant drugs. With regard to its different clinical effects in acute and chronic treatments, in this work, we examined the effect of escitalopram on gamma power after both acute and chronic treatments. As gamma power varies across the sleep-wake cycle, we analyzed it in six vigilance stages. As part of the antidepressant effect of chronic escitalopram treatment, the adaptation of serotonin 2C receptors (5-HT_{2C}R) has been suggested. Therefore, in a subsequent experiment, we investigated how SB-242084, an antagonist of 5-HT_{2C}R, affects gamma activity (the role of 5-HT_{2C}R), and whether pretreatment with chronic escitalopram modifies these effects (the influence of increased serotonergic tone on 5-HT₂R function). Our main results are the followings: (1) escitalopram acutely decreased gamma power during rapid eye movement sleep, (2) in contrast, chronically it increased gamma power during light and deep slow-wave sleep. (3) The acute SB-242084 treatment, similarly to chronic escitalopram, increased gamma power during slow-wave sleep stages. (4) This latter effect was not affected by the pretreatment with chronic escitalopram.

Taken together, the difference between the acute and chronic effects of escitalopram on gamma power is in line with previous data reporting markedly different therapeutic and side effects with short- and long-term application of the drug. Our findings also suggest that 5-HT_{2C}R antagonists could be potential new compounds of antidepressant therapies in monotherapy or in combination to enhance the effect of SSRI antidepressants. Our results confirm the presumed relationship of gamma oscillations and the clinical effect of antidepressant treatments, further supporting the idea that gamma oscillations could serve as a potential quantitative EEG biomarker in tracking the pathophysiological process of depression and in testing the efficacy of antidepressant therapies.

7. Összefoglalás – Summary in Hungarian

A depresszió és az antidepresszáns gyógyszerek kutatása során felmerült az igény olyan biomarkerek azonosítására, melyek megbízhatóan és objektíven tükrözik a háttérben zajló neurobiológiai folyamatokat, ezáltal fejlesztve a diagnosztikus és terápiás lehetőségeket. Egyre több tudományos bizonyíték támasztja alá az elektroenkefalográfiával (EEG) mérhető gamma oszcillációk szerepét a depresszió kialakulásában és lefolyásában, a kezelés hatékonyságában. Az escitalopram, a szelektív szerotoninvisszavétel-gátlók (SSRI) képviselője, az egyik leggyakrabban felírt antidepresszáns gyógyszer. Figyelembe véve a szer akut és krónikus adagolás során eltérő klinikai hatásait, az escitalopram gamma teljesítményre kifejtett hatásait mind akut, mind pedig krónikus kezelést követően vizsgáltuk. Mivel a gamma teljesítmény az alvás-ébrenlét ciklus során jellemző módon változik, az elemzés hat vigilancia stádiumban történt. A krónikus escitalopram kezelés antidepresszáns hatásához hozzájárulhat a szerotonin 2C receptorok (5-HT_{2C}R) adaptációja. Egy következő kísérletben ezért azt vizsgáltuk, hogy hogyan hat a 5-HT_{2C}R antagonista SB-242084 a gamma aktivitásra (5-HT_{2C}R szerepe), illetve hogy a krónikus escitaloprammal való előkezelés hogyan módosítja e hatásokat (a fokozott szerotonerg tónus befolyásolja-e a 5-HT_{2C}R funkcióját). Fő eredményeink: az escitalopram akutan adagolva csökkentette a gamma teljesítményt REM alvás alatt, krónikusan ezzel szemben növelte a gamma teljesítményt felszínes és mély lassú hullámú alvás során. Az akut SB-242084 kezelés, a krónikus escitalopramhoz hasonlóan, növelte a gamma teljesítményt a lassú hullámú alvásstádiumok alatt. Ez utóbbi hatást a krónikus escitaloprammal történő előkezelés nem befolyásolta.

Az escitalopram akut és krónikus hatásai közt megfigyelt különbség összhangban áll a rövid és hosszú távú alkalmazás során eltérő terápiás, illetve mellékhatásokkal. A kapott eredmények megerősítik a 5-HT_{2C}R antagonisták potenciális antidepresszánsként való alkalmazhatóságát monoterápiában vagy SSRI-vel való kombinációban. Eredményeink alátámasztják továbbá a gamma oszcillációk és az antidepresszáns terápiák klinikai hatékonyságának feltételezett kapcsolatát, valamint a hipotézist, miszerint a gamma oszcillációk kvantitatív EEG biomarkerként szolgálhatnak a depresszió patofiziológiai folyamatai, valamint az antidepresszáns hatás nyomon követésében.

8. References

- 1. Buzsaki G, Logothetis N, Singer W. (2013) Scaling brain size, keeping timing: evolutionary preservation of brain rhythms. Neuron, 80: 751-764.
- 2. Blokland A, Prickaerts J, van Duinen M, Sambeth A. (2015) The use of EEG parameters as predictors of drug effects on cognition. Eur J Pharmacol, 759: 163-168.
- 3. Papp N, Vas S, Bogathy E, Katai Z, Kostyalik D, Bagdy G. (2018) Acute and chronic escitalopram alter EEG gamma oscillations differently: relevance to therapeutic effects. Eur J Pharm Sci, 121: 347-355.
- 4. Papp N, Koncz S, Kostyalik D, Kitka T, Petschner P, Vas S, Bagdy G. (2019) Acute 5-HT2C Receptor Antagonist SB-242084 Treatment Affects EEG Gamma Band Activity Similarly to Chronic Escitalopram. Front Pharmacol, 10: 1636.
- 5. Brown RE, Basheer R, McKenna JT, Strecker RE, McCarley RW. (2012) Control of sleep and wakefulness. Physiol Rev, 92: 1087-1187.
- 6. Cardin JA, Carlen M, Meletis K, Knoblich U, Zhang F, Deisseroth K, Tsai LH, Moore CI. (2009) Driving fast-spiking cells induces gamma rhythm and controls sensory responses. Nature, 459: 663-667.
- 7. Veit J, Hakim R, Jadi MP, Sejnowski TJ, Adesnik H. (2017) Cortical gamma band synchronization through somatostatin interneurons. Nat Neurosci, 20: 951-959.
- 8. Buzsaki G, Wang XJ. (2012) Mechanisms of gamma oscillations. Annu Rev Neurosci, 35: 203-225.
- 9. Cardin JA. (2016) Snapshots of the Brain in Action: Local Circuit Operations through the Lens of gamma Oscillations. J Neurosci, 36: 10496-10504.
- 10. Scammell TE, Arrigoni E, Lipton JO. (2017) Neural Circuitry of Wakefulness and Sleep. Neuron, 93: 747-765.
- 11. Kantor S, Jakus R, Balogh B, Benko A, Bagdy G. (2004) Increased wakefulness, motor activity and decreased theta activity after blockade of the 5-HT2B receptor by the subtype-selective antagonist SB-215505. Br J Pharmacol, 142: 1332-1342.
- 12. Kaiser RH, Andrews-Hanna JR, Wager TD, Pizzagalli DA. (2015) Large-Scale Network Dysfunction in Major Depressive Disorder: A Meta-analysis of Resting-State Functional Connectivity. JAMA Psychiatry, 72: 603-611.
- 13. Steiger A, Kimura M. (2010) Wake and sleep EEG provide biomarkers in depression. J Psychiatr Res, 44: 242-252.
- 14. Millan MJ, Agid Y, Brune M, Bullmore ET, Carter CS, Clayton NS, Connor R, Davis S, Deakin B, DeRubeis RJ, Dubois B, Geyer MA, Goodwin GM, Gorwood P, Jay TM, Joels M, Mansuy IM, Meyer-Lindenberg A, Murphy D, Rolls E, Saletu B, Spedding M, Sweeney J, Whittington M, Young LJ. (2012) Cognitive dysfunction in psychiatric disorders: characteristics, causes and the quest for improved therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 11: 141-168.
- 15. Riemann D, Berger M, Voderholzer U. (2001) Sleep and depression--results from psychobiological studies: an overview. Biol Psychol, 57: 67-103.
- 16. Riemann D, Krone LB, Wulff K, Nissen C. (2020) Sleep, insomnia, and depression. Neuropsychopharmacology, 45: 74-89.
- 17. Diekelmann S, Born J. (2010) The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci, 11: 114-126.

- 18. Wilson S, Argyropoulos S. (2005) Antidepressants and sleep: a qualitative review of the literature. Drugs, 65: 927-947.
- 19. Fingelkurts AA, Fingelkurts AA. (2015) Altered structure of dynamic electroencephalogram oscillatory pattern in major depression. Biol Psychiatry, 77: 1050-1060.
- 20. Smart OL, Tiruvadi VR, Mayberg HS. (2015) Multimodal approaches to define network oscillations in depression. Biol Psychiatry, 77: 1061-1070.
- 21. Newson JJ, Thiagarajan TC. (2018) EEG Frequency Bands in Psychiatric Disorders: A Review of Resting State Studies. Front Hum Neurosci, 12: 521.
- 22. Headley DB, Weinberger NM. (2011) Gamma-band activation predicts both associative memory and cortical plasticity. J Neurosci, 31: 12748-12758.
- 23. Jensen O, Kaiser J, Lachaux JP. (2007) Human gamma-frequency oscillations associated with attention and memory. Trends Neurosci, 30: 317-324.
- 24. Siegle GJ, Condray R, Thase ME, Keshavan M, Steinhauer SR. (2010) Sustained gamma-band EEG following negative words in depression and schizophrenia. Int J Psychophysiol, 75: 107-118.
- 25. Roh SC, Park EJ, Shim M, Lee SH. (2016) EEG beta and low gamma power correlates with inattention in patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord, 204: 124-130.
- Yamamoto T, Sugaya N, Siegle GJ, Kumano H, Shimada H, Machado S, Murillo-Rodriguez E, Rocha NB, Nardi AE, Takamura M, Okamoto Y, Yamawaki S. (2018) Altered Gamma-Band Activity as a Potential Biomarker for the Recurrence of Major Depressive Disorder. Front Psychiatry, 9: 691.
- 27. Chapotot F, Buguet A, Gronfier C, Brandenberger G. (2001) Hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis activity is related to the level of central arousal: effect of sleep deprivation on the association of high-frequency waking electroencephalogram with cortisol release. Neuroendocrinology, 73: 312-321.
- 28. Pariante CM, Lightman SL. (2008) The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. Trends Neurosci, 31: 464-468.
- 29. Khalid A, Kim BS, Seo BA, Lee ST, Jung KH, Chu K, Lee SK, Jeon D. (2016) Gamma oscillation in functional brain networks is involved in the spontaneous remission of depressive behavior induced by chronic restraint stress in mice. BMC Neurosci, 17: 4.
- 30. Dricks S. (2016) Effects of neonatal stress on gamma oscillations in hippocampus. Sci Rep, 6: 29007.
- 31. Yordanova J, Banaschewski T, Kolev V, Woerner W, Rothenberger A. (2001) Abnormal early stages of task stimulus processing in children with attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder--evidence from event-related gamma oscillations. Clin Neurophysiol, 112: 1096-1108.
- 32. Baldeweg T, Spence S, Hirsch SR, Gruzelier J. (1998) Gamma-band electroencephalographic oscillations in a patient with somatic hallucinations. Lancet, 352: 620-621.
- 33. Herrmann CS, Demiralp T. (2005) Human EEG gamma oscillations in neuropsychiatric disorders. Clin Neurophysiol, 116: 2719-2733.
- 34. Murty D, Manikandan K, Kumar WS, Ramesh RG, Purokayastha S, Javali M, Rao NP, Ray S. (2020) Gamma oscillations weaken with age in healthy elderly in human EEG. Neuroimage, 215: 116826.

- 35. Alaiyed S, McCann M, Mahajan G, Rajkowska G, Stockmeier CA, Kellar KJ, Wu JY, Conant K. (2020) Venlafaxine Stimulates an MMP-9-Dependent Increase in Excitatory/Inhibitory Balance in a Stress Model of Depression. J Neurosci, 40: 4418-4431.
- 36. Ozerdem A, Guntekin B, Atagun I, Turp B, Basar E. (2011) Reduced long distance gamma (28-48 Hz) coherence in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord, 132: 325-332.
- Herrmann CS, Frund I, Lenz D. (2010) Human gamma-band activity: a review on cognitive and behavioral correlates and network models. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 34: 981-992.
- Sakai T, Oshima A, Nozaki Y, Ida I, Haga C, Akiyama H, Nakazato Y, Mikuni M. (2008) Changes in density of calcium-binding-protein-immunoreactive GABAergic neurons in prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Neuropathology, 28: 143-150.
- 39. Wang AY, Lohmann KM, Yang CK, Zimmerman EI, Pantazopoulos H, Herring N, Berretta S, Heckers S, Konradi C. (2011) Bipolar disorder type 1 and schizophrenia are accompanied by decreased density of parvalbumin- and somatostatin-positive interneurons in the parahippocampal region. Acta Neuropathol, 122: 615-626.
- 40. Ruden JB, Dugan LL, Konradi C. (2020) Parvalbumin interneuron vulnerability and brain disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology, doi:10.1038/s41386-020-0778-9.
- 41. Herrmann CS, Struber D, Helfrich RF, Engel AK. (2016) EEG oscillations: From correlation to causality. Int J Psychophysiol, 103: 12-21.
- 42. Struber D, Herrmann CS. (2020) Modulation of gamma oscillations as a possible therapeutic tool for neuropsychiatric diseases: A review and perspective. Int J Psychophysiol, 152: 15-25.
- 43. Fitzgerald PJ, Watson BO. (2018) Gamma oscillations as a biomarker for major depression: an emerging topic. Transl Psychiatry, 8: 177.
- 44. Neto FSD, Rosa JLG. (2019) Depression biomarkers using non-invasive EEG: A review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 105: 83-93.
- 45. Monti JM. (2011) Serotonin control of sleep-wake behavior. Sleep Med Rev, 15: 269-281.
- 46. Riga MS, Sanchez C, Celada P, Artigas F. (2020) Sub-chronic vortioxetine (but not escitalopram) normalizes brain rhythm alterations and memory deficits induced by serotonin depletion in rats. Neuropharmacology, 178: 108238.
- 47. Puig MV, Gener T. (2015) Serotonin Modulation of Prefronto-Hippocampal Rhythms in Health and Disease. ACS Chem Neurosci, 6: 1017-1025.
- 48. Athilingam JC, Ben-Shalom R, Keeshen CM, Sohal VS, Bender KJ. (2017) Serotonin enhances excitability and gamma frequency temporal integration in mouse prefrontal fast-spiking interneurons. Elife, 6.
- 49. McCorvy JD, Roth BL. (2015) Structure and function of serotonin G proteincoupled receptors. Pharmacol Ther, 150: 129-142.
- 50. Waugh J, Goa KL. (2003) Escitalopram : a review of its use in the management of major depressive and anxiety disorders. CNS Drugs, 17: 343-362.
- 51. Cipriani A, Furukawa TA, Salanti G, Chaimani A, Atkinson LZ, Ogawa Y, Leucht S, Ruhe HG, Turner EH, Higgins JPT, Egger M, Takeshima N, Hayasaka Y, Imai H, Shinohara K, Tajika A, Ioannidis JPA, Geddes JR. (2018) Comparative

efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network metaanalysis. Lancet, 391: 1357-1366.

- 52. Riedel WJ, Eikmans K, Heldens A, Schmitt JA. (2005) Specific serotonergic reuptake inhibition impairs vigilance performance acutely and after subchronic treatment. J Psychopharmacol, 19: 12-20.
- 53. van Bemmel AL, van den Hoofdakker RH, Beersma DG, Bouhuys AL. (1993) Changes in sleep polygraphic variables and clinical state in depressed patients during treatment with citalopram. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 113: 225-230.
- 54. Monaca C, Boutrel B, Hen R, Hamon M, Adrien J. (2003) 5-HT 1A/1B receptormediated effects of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, citalopram, on sleep: studies in 5-HT 1A and 5-HT 1B knockout mice. Neuropsychopharmacology, 28: 850-856.
- 55. Popa D, Lena C, Alexandre C, Adrien J. (2008) Lasting syndrome of depression produced by reduction in serotonin uptake during postnatal development: evidence from sleep, stress, and behavior. J Neurosci, 28: 3546-3554.
- 56. Ivarsson M, Paterson LM, Hutson PH. (2005) Antidepressants and REM sleep in Wistar-Kyoto and Sprague-Dawley rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 522: 63-71.
- 57. Neckelmann D, Bjorvatn B, Bjorkum AA, Ursin R. (1996) Citalopram: differential sleep/wake and EEG power spectrum effects after single dose and chronic administration. Behav Brain Res, 79: 183-192.
- 58. Sanchez C, Brennum LT, Storustovu S, Kreilgard M, Mork A. (2007) Depression and poor sleep: the effect of monoaminergic antidepressants in a pre-clinical model in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 86: 468-476.
- 59. Vas S, Katai Z, Kostyalik D, Pap D, Molnar E, Petschner P, Kalmar L, Bagdy G. (2013) Differential adaptation of REM sleep latency, intermediate stage and theta power effects of escitalopram after chronic treatment. J Neural Transm (Vienna), 120: 169-176.
- 60. Van Bemmel AL, Beersma DG, Van Den Hoofdakker RH. (1993) Changes in EEG power density of NREM sleep in depressed patients during treatment with citalopram. J Sleep Res, 2: 156-162.
- 61. Leuchter AF, Hunter AM, Jain FA, Tartter M, Crump C, Cook IA. (2017) Escitalopram but not placebo modulates brain rhythmic oscillatory activity in the first week of treatment of Major Depressive Disorder. J Psychiatr Res, 84: 174-183.
- 62. Maron E, Near J, Wallis G, Stokes M, Matthews PM, Nutt DJ. (2016) A pilot study of the effect of short-term escitalopram treatment on brain metabolites and gamma-oscillations in healthy subjects. J Psychopharmacol, 30: 579-580.
- 63. Leiser SC, Pehrson AL, Robichaud PJ, Sanchez C. (2014) Multimodal antidepressant vortioxetine increases frontal cortical oscillations unlike escitalopram and duloxetine--a quantitative EEG study in rats. Br J Pharmacol, 171: 4255-4272.
- 64. An J, Wang L, Li K, Zeng Y, Su Y, Jin Z, Yu X, Si T. (2017) Differential effects of antidepressant treatment on long-range and short-range functional connectivity strength in patients with major depressive disorder. Sci Rep, 7: 10214.
- 65. Vai B, Bulgarelli C, Godlewska BR, Cowen PJ, Benedetti F, Harmer CJ. (2016) Fronto-limbic effective connectivity as possible predictor of antidepressant response to SSRI administration. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol, 26: 2000-2010.

- 66. van de Ven V, Wingen M, Kuypers KP, Ramaekers JG, Formisano E. (2013) Escitalopram Decreases Cross-Regional Functional Connectivity within the Default-Mode Network. PLoS One, 8: e68355.
- Drueke B, Baetz J, Boecker M, Moeller O, Hiemke C, Grunder G, Gauggel S.
 (2009) Differential effects of escitalopram on attention: a placebo-controlled, double-blind cross-over study. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 207: 213-223.
- 68. Herrera-Guzman I, Gudayol-Ferre E, Herrera-Guzman D, Guardia-Olmos J, Hinojosa-Calvo E, Herrera-Abarca JE. (2009) Effects of selective serotonin reuptake and dual serotonergic-noradrenergic reuptake treatments on memory and mental processing speed in patients with major depressive disorder. J Psychiatr Res, 43: 855-863.
- 69. Tao C, Yan W, Li Y, Lu X. (2016) Effect of antidepressants on spatial memory deficit induced by dizocilpine. Psychiatry Res, 244: 266-272.
- 70. Alboni S, Benatti C, Capone G, Corsini D, Caggia F, Tascedda F, Mendlewicz J, Brunello N. (2010) Time-dependent effects of escitalopram on brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neuroplasticity related targets in the central nervous system of rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 643: 180-187.
- 71. Piubelli C, Vighini M, Mathe AA, Domenici E, Carboni L. (2011) Escitalopram affects cytoskeleton and synaptic plasticity pathways in a rat gene-environment interaction model of depression as revealed by proteomics. Part II: environmental challenge. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol, 14: 834-855.
- 72. Bagdy G. (1998) Serotonin, anxiety, and stress hormones. Focus on 5-HT receptor subtypes, species and gender differences. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 851: 357-363.
- 73. Chagraoui A, Thibaut F, Skiba M, Thuillez C, Bourin M. (2016) 5-HT2C receptors in psychiatric disorders: A review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry, 66: 120-135.
- 74. Di Giovanni G, De Deurwaerdere P. (2016) New therapeutic opportunities for 5-HT2C receptor ligands in neuropsychiatric disorders. Pharmacol Ther, 157: 125-162.
- 75. Bagdy G, Graf M, Anheuer ZE, Modos EA, Kantor S. (2001) Anxiety-like effects induced by acute fluoxetine, sertraline or m-CPP treatment are reversed by pretreatment with the 5-HT2C receptor antagonist SB-242084 but not the 5-HT1A receptor antagonist WAY-100635. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol, 4: 399-408.
- 76. Dekeyne A, Denorme B, Monneyron S, Millan MJ. (2000) Citalopram reduces social interaction in rats by activation of serotonin (5-HT)(2C) receptors. Neuropharmacology, 39: 1114-1117.
- 77. Kantor S, Jakus R, Molnar E, Gyongyosi N, Toth A, Detari L, Bagdy G. (2005) Despite similar anxiolytic potential, the 5-hydroxytryptamine 2C receptor antagonist SB-242084 [6-chloro-5-methyl-1-[2-(2-methylpyrid-3-yloxy)-pyrid-5-yl carbamoyl] indoline] and chlordiazepoxide produced differential effects on electroencephalogram power spectra. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 315: 921-930.
- 78. Opal MD, Klenotich SC, Morais M, Bessa J, Winkle J, Doukas D, Kay LJ, Sousa N, Dulawa SM. (2014) Serotonin 2C receptor antagonists induce fast-onset antidepressant effects. Mol Psychiatry, 19: 1106-1114.
- 79. Demireva EY, Suri D, Morelli E, Mahadevia D, Chuhma N, Teixeira CM, Ziolkowski A, Hersh M, Fifer J, Bagchi S, Chemiakine A, Moore H, Gingrich JA, Balsam P, Rayport S, Ansorge MS. (2018) 5-HT2C receptor blockade reverses

SSRI-associated basal ganglia dysfunction and potentiates therapeutic efficacy. Mol Psychiatry, doi:10.1038/s41380-018-0227-x.

- 80. Kostyalik D, Katai Z, Vas S, Pap D, Petschner P, Molnar E, Gyertyan I, Kalmar L, Tothfalusi L, Bagdy G. (2014) Chronic escitalopram treatment caused dissociative adaptation in serotonin (5-HT) 2C receptor antagonist-induced effects in REM sleep, wake and theta wave activity. Exp Brain Res, 232: 935-946.
- 81. Hajos N, Paulsen O. (2009) Network mechanisms of gamma oscillations in the CA3 region of the hippocampus. Neural Netw, 22: 1113-1119.
- 82. Cavelli M, Castro S, Schwarzkopf N, Chase MH, Falconi A, Torterolo P. (2015) Coherent neocortical gamma oscillations decrease during REM sleep in the rat. Behav Brain Res, 281: 318-325.
- 83. Cantero JL, Atienza M, Madsen JR, Stickgold R. (2004) Gamma EEG dynamics in neocortex and hippocampus during human wakefulness and sleep. Neuroimage, 22: 1271-1280.
- 84. Hasselmo ME, McGaughy J. (2004) High acetylcholine levels set circuit dynamics for attention and encoding and low acetylcholine levels set dynamics for consolidation. Prog Brain Res, 145: 207-231.
- 85. Fries P, Reynolds JH, Rorie AE, Desimone R. (2001) Modulation of oscillatory neuronal synchronization by selective visual attention. Science, 291: 1560-1563.
- 86. Fries P. (2005) A mechanism for cognitive dynamics: neuronal communication through neuronal coherence. Trends Cogn Sci, 9: 474-480.
- 87. Gray CM, Engel AK, Konig P, Singer W. (1990) Stimulus-Dependent Neuronal Oscillations in Cat Visual Cortex: Receptive Field Properties and Feature Dependence. Eur J Neurosci, 2: 607-619.
- 88. Peever J, Fuller PM. (2017) The Biology of REM Sleep. Curr Biol, 27: R1237-R1248.
- 89. Ribeiro S, Goyal V, Mello CV, Pavlides C. (1999) Brain gene expression during REM sleep depends on prior waking experience. Learn Mem, 6: 500-508.
- 90. Ribeiro S, Nicolelis MA. (2004) Reverberation, storage, and postsynaptic propagation of memories during sleep. Learn Mem, 11: 686-696.
- 91. Le Van Quyen M, Staba R, Bragin A, Dickson C, Valderrama M, Fried I, Engel J. (2010) Large-Scale Microelectrode Recordings of High-Frequency Gamma Oscillations in Human Cortex during Sleep. Journal of Neuroscience, 30: 7770-7782.
- 92. Quyen MLV, Muller LE, Telenczuk B, Halgren E, Cash S, Hatsopoulos NG, Dehghani N, Destexhe A. (2016) High-frequency oscillations in human and monkey neocortex during the wake-sleep cycle. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 113: 9363-9368.
- 93. Valderrama M, Crepon B, Botella-Soler V, Martinerie J, Hasboun D, Alvarado-Rojas C, Baulac M, Adam C, Navarro V, Le Van Quyen M. (2012) Human gamma oscillations during slow wave sleep. PLoS One, 7: e33477.
- 94. Destexhe A, Contreras D, Steriade M. (1999) Spatiotemporal analysis of local field potentials and unit discharges in cat cerebral cortex during natural wake and sleep states. J Neurosci, 19: 4595-4608.
- 95. Massi L, Lagler M, Hartwich K, Borhegyi Z, Somogyi P, Klausberger T. (2012) Temporal Dynamics of Parvalbumin-Expressing Axo-axonic and Basket Cells in the Rat Medial Prefrontal Cortex In Vivo. Journal of Neuroscience, 32: 16496-16502.

- 96. Buzsaki G. (1989) Two-stage model of memory trace formation: a role for "noisy" brain states. Neuroscience, 31: 551-570.
- 97. Hudson R, Zhou Y, Leri F. (2017) The combination of escitalopram and aripiprazole: Investigation of psychomotor effects in rats. J Psychopharmacol, 31: 1605-1614.
- 98. Seo MK, Ly NN, Lee CH, Cho HY, Choi CM, Nhu LH, Lee JG, Lee BJ, Kim GM, Yoon BJ, Park SW, Kim YH. (2016) Early life stress increases stress vulnerability through BDNF gene epigenetic changes in the rat hippocampus. Neuropharmacology, 105: 388-397.
- 99. Ceglia I, Acconcia S, Fracasso C, Colovic M, Caccia S, Invernizzi RW. (2004) Effects of chronic treatment with escitalopram or citalopram on extracellular 5-HT in the prefrontal cortex of rats: role of 5-HT1A receptors. Br J Pharmacol, 142: 469-478.
- 100. Jacobsen JP, Mork A. (2004) The effect of escitalopram, desipramine, electroconvulsive seizures and lithium on brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA and protein expression in the rat brain and the correlation to 5-HT and 5-HIAA levels. Brain Res, 1024: 183-192.
- 101. Mork A, Kreilgaard M, Sanchez C. (2003) The R-enantiomer of citalopram counteracts escitalopram-induced increase in extracellular 5-HT in the frontal cortex of freely moving rats. Neuropharmacology, 45: 167-173.
- 102. Leiser SC, Pehrson AL, Robichaud PJ, Sanchez C. (2014) Multimodal antidepressant vortioxetine increases frontal cortical oscillations unlike escitalopram and duloxetine a quantitative EEG study in rats. British Journal of Pharmacology, 171: 4255-4272.
- 103. Nissen TD, Laursen B, Viardot G, l'Hostis P, Danjou P, Sluth LB, Gram M, Bastlund JF, Christensen SR, Drewes AM. (2020) Effects of Vortioxetine and Escitalopram on Electroencephalographic Recordings - A Randomized, Crossover Trial in Healthy Males. Neuroscience, 424: 172-181.
- 104. Wingen M, Bothmer J, Langer S, Ramaekers JG. (2005) Actual driving performance and psychomotor function in healthy subjects after acute and subchronic treatment with escitalopram, mirtazapine, and placebo: a crossover trial. J Clin Psychiatry, 66: 436-443.
- 105. Wadsworth EJ, Moss SC, Simpson SA, Smith AP. (2005) SSRIs and cognitive performance in a working sample. Hum Psychopharmacol, 20: 561-572.
- 106. Adrien J, Dugovic C, Martin P. (1991) Sleep-wakefulness patterns in the helpless rat. Physiol Behav, 49: 257-262.
- 107. Vogel GW. (1975) A review of REM sleep deprivation. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 32: 749-761.
- Palagini L, Baglioni C, Ciapparelli A, Gemignani A, Riemann D. (2013) REM sleep dysregulation in depression: State of the art. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 17: 377-390.
- 109. Agargun MY, Cartwright R. (2003) REM sleep, dream variables and suicidality in depressed patients. Psychiatry Res, 119: 33-39.
- 110. McNamara P, Auerbach S, Johnson P, Harris E, Doros G. (2010) Impact of REM sleep on distortions of self-concept, mood and memory in depressed/anxious participants. Journal of Affective Disorders, 122: 198-207.
- 111. Hennevin E, Hars B, Maho C, Bloch V. (1995) Processing of learned information in paradoxical sleep: relevance for memory. Behav Brain Res, 69: 125-135.

- 112. Gorenstein C, de Carvalho SC, Artes R, Moreno RA, Marcourakis T. (2006) Cognitive performance in depressed patients after chronic use of antidepressants. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 185: 84-92.
- 113. Rasch B, Pommer J, Diekelmann S, Born J. (2009) Pharmacological REM sleep suppression paradoxically improves rather than impairs skill memory. Nature Neuroscience, 12: 396-397.
- 114. Dresler M, Kluge M, Genzel L, Schussler P, Steiger A. (2010) Impaired off-line memory consolidation in depression. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol, 20: 553-561.
- 115. Soczynska JK, Ravindran LN, Styra R, McIntyre RS, Cyriac A, Manierka MS, Kennedy SH. (2014) The effect of bupropion XL and escitalopram on memory and functional outcomes in adults with major depressive disorder: results from a randomized controlled trial. Psychiatry Res, 220: 245-250.
- 116. Genzel L, Dresler M, Wehrle R, Grozinger M, Steiger A. (2009) Slow wave sleep and REM sleep awakenings do not affect sleep dependent memory consolidation. Sleep, 32: 302-310.
- 117. Bremner JD, Vythilingam M, Vermetten E, Charney DS. (2007) Effects of antidepressant treatment on neural correlates of emotional and neutral declarative verbal memory in depression. J Affect Disord, 101: 99-111.
- 118. Hu H, Gan J, Jonas P. (2014) Interneurons. Fast-spiking, parvalbumin(+) GABAergic interneurons: from cellular design to microcircuit function. Science, 345: 1255263.
- 119. Nord M, Finnema SJ, Halldin C, Farde L. (2013) Effect of a single dose of escitalopram on serotonin concentration in the non-human and human primate brain. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol, 16: 1577-1586.
- 120. Chaput Y, de Montigny C, Blier P. (1986) Effects of a selective 5-HT reuptake blocker, citalopram, on the sensitivity of 5-HT autoreceptors: electrophysiological studies in the rat brain. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol, 333: 342-348.
- 121. El Mansari M, Sanchez C, Chouvet G, Renaud B, Haddjeri N. (2005) Effects of acute and long-term administration of escitalopram and citalopram on serotonin neurotransmission: an in vivo electrophysiological study in rat brain. Neuropsychopharmacology, 30: 1269-1277.
- 122. Amargos-Bosch M, Adell A, Artigas F. (2004) Stimulation of alpha(1)-adrenergic and AMPA receptors in rat medial prefrontal cortex increases local in vivo serotonin release: reversal by antipsychotic drugs. European Neuropsychopharmacology, 14: S63-S64.
- 123. Puig MV, Watakabe A, Ushimaru M, Yamamori T, Kawaguchi Y. (2010) Serotonin modulates fast-spiking interneuron and synchronous activity in the rat prefrontal cortex through 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors. J Neurosci, 30: 2211-2222.
- 124. Tanaka E, North RA. (1993) Actions of 5-Hydroxytryptamine on Neurons of the Rat Cingulate Cortex. Journal of Neurophysiology, 69: 1749-1757.
- 125. Araneda R, Andrade R. (1991) 5-Hydroxytryptamine2 and 5-hydroxytryptamine 1A receptors mediate opposing responses on membrane excitability in rat association cortex. Neuroscience, 40: 399-412.
- 126. Celada P, Puig MV, Artigas F. (2013) Serotonin modulation of cortical neurons and networks. Front Integr Neurosci, 7: 25.
- 127. Johnston A, McBain CJ, Fisahn A. (2014) 5-Hydroxytryptamine(1A) receptoractivation hyperpolarizes pyramidal cells and suppresses hippocampal gamma

oscillations via Kir3 channel activation. Journal of Physiology-London, 592: 4187-4199.

- 128. Goodnough DB, Baker GB. (1994) 5-Hydroxytryptamine2 and beta-adrenergic receptor regulation in rat brain following chronic treatment with desipramine and fluoxetine alone and in combination. J Neurochem, 62: 2262-2268.
- 129. Gray JA, Roth BL. (2001) Paradoxical trafficking and regulation of 5-HT(2A) receptors by agonists and antagonists. Brain Res Bull, 56: 441-451.
- 130. Klimek V, Zak-Knapik J, Mackowiak M. (1994) Effects of repeated treatment with fluoxetine and citalopram, 5-HT uptake inhibitors, on 5-HT1A and 5-HT2 receptors in the rat brain. J Psychiatry Neurosci, 19: 63-67.
- 131. Sanders-Bush E, Breeding M, Knoth K, Tsutsumi M. (1989) Sertraline-induced desensitization of the serotonin 5HT-2 receptor transmembrane signaling system. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 99: 64-69.
- 132. Popa D, Lena C, Fabre V, Prenat C, Gingrich J, Escourrou P, Hamon M, Adrien J. (2005) Contribution of 5-HT2 receptor subtypes to sleep-wakefulness and respiratory control, and functional adaptations in knock-out mice lacking 5-HT2A receptors. J Neurosci, 25: 11231-11238.
- 133. Sorman E, Wang D, Hajos M, Kocsis B. (2011) Control of hippocampal theta rhythm by serotonin: role of 5-HT2c receptors. Neuropharmacology, 61: 489-494.
- Bogathy E, Papp N, Tothfalusi L, Vas S, Bagdy G. (2019) Additive effect of 5-HT2C and CB1 receptor blockade on the regulation of sleep-wake cycle. BMC Neurosci, 20: 14.
- 135. Kennett GA, Wood MD, Bright F, Trail B, Riley G, Holland V, Avenell KY, Stean T, Upton N, Bromidge S, Forbes IT, Brown AM, Middlemiss DN, Blackburn TP. (1997) SB 242084, a selective and brain penetrant 5-HT2C receptor antagonist. Neuropharmacology, 36: 609-620.
- 136. Martin JR, Ballard TM, Higgins GA. (2002) Influence of the 5-HT2C receptor antagonist, SB-242084, in tests of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 71: 615-625.
- 137. Schulz SB, Heidmann KE, Mike A, Klaft ZJ, Heinemann U, Gerevich Z. (2012) First and second generation antipsychotics influence hippocampal gamma oscillations by interactions with 5-HT3 and D3 receptors. Br J Pharmacol, 167: 1480-1491.
- 138. Furth KE, Mastwal S, Wang KH, Buonanno A, Vullhorst D. (2013) Dopamine, cognitive function, and gamma oscillations: role of D4 receptors. Front Cell Neurosci, 7: 102.
- 139. Xu X, Zheng C, An L, Wang R, Zhang T. (2016) Effects of Dopamine and Serotonin Systems on Modulating Neural Oscillations in Hippocampus-Prefrontal Cortex Pathway in Rats. Brain Topogr, 29: 539-551.
- 140. De Deurwaerdere P, Di Giovanni G. (2017) Serotonergic modulation of the activity of mesencephalic dopaminergic systems: Therapeutic implications. Prog Neurobiol, 151: 175-236.
- 141. De Deurwaerdere P, Navailles S, Berg KA, Clarke WP, Spampinato U. (2004) Constitutive activity of the serotonin2C receptor inhibits in vivo dopamine release in the rat striatum and nucleus accumbens. J Neurosci, 24: 3235-3241.
- 142. Schilstrom B, Konradsson-Geuken A, Ivanov V, Gertow J, Feltmann K, Marcus MM, Jardemark K, Svensson TH. (2011) Effects of S-citalopram, citalopram, and R-citalopram on the firing patterns of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental

area, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated transmission in the medial prefrontal cortex and cognitive function in the rat. Synapse, 65: 357-367.

- 143. Dremencov E, El Mansari M, Blier P. (2009) Effects of sustained serotonin reuptake inhibition on the firing of dopamine neurons in the rat ventral tegmental area. J Psychiatry Neurosci, 34: 223-229.
- 144. Cremers TI, Giorgetti M, Bosker FJ, Hogg S, Arnt J, Mork A, Honig G, Bogeso KP, Westerink BH, den Boer H, Wikstrom HV, Tecott LH. (2004) Inactivation of 5-HT(2C) receptors potentiates consequences of serotonin reuptake blockade. Neuropsychopharmacology, 29: 1782-1789.
- 145. Burghardt NS, Bush DE, McEwen BS, LeDoux JE. (2007) Acute selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors increase conditioned fear expression: blockade with a 5-HT(2C) receptor antagonist. Biol Psychiatry, 62: 1111-1118.
- 146. Bandarabadi M, Boyce R, Gutierrez Herrera C, Bassetti CL, Williams S, Schindler K, Adamantidis A. (2019) Dynamic modulation of theta-gamma coupling during rapid eye movement sleep. Sleep, 42.
- 147. Lisman JE, Jensen O. (2013) The theta-gamma neural code. Neuron, 77: 1002-1016.
- 148. Buzsaki G. (2002) Theta oscillations in the hippocampus. Neuron, 33: 325-340.
- 149. Vinogradova OS. (1995) Expression, control, and probable functional significance of the neuronal theta-rhythm. Prog Neurobiol, 45: 523-583.
- 150. Raghavachari S, Kahana MJ, Rizzuto DS, Caplan JB, Kirschen MP, Bourgeois B, Madsen JR, Lisman JE. (2001) Gating of human theta oscillations by a working memory task. J Neurosci, 21: 3175-3183.
- 151. Herweg NA, Solomon EA, Kahana MJ. (2020) Theta Oscillations in Human Memory. Trends Cogn Sci, 24: 208-227.
- 152. Vertes RP. (1982) Brain stem generation of the hippocampal EEG. Prog Neurobiol, 19: 159-186.
- 153. Bel N, Artigas F. (1992) Fluvoxamine preferentially increases extracellular 5hydroxytryptamine in the raphe nuclei: an in vivo microdialysis study. Eur J Pharmacol, 229: 101-103.
- 154. Hajos M, Hoffmann WE, Weaver RJ. (2003) Regulation of septo-hippocampal activity by 5-hydroxytryptamine(2C) receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 306: 605-615.
- 155. Engel AK, Fries P. (2010) Beta-band oscillations--signalling the status quo? Curr Opin Neurobiol, 20: 156-165.
- 156. Pfurtscheller G, Stancak A, Jr., Neuper C. (1996) Post-movement beta synchronization. A correlate of an idling motor area? Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol, 98: 281-293.
- 157. Li Y, Kang C, Wei Z, Qu X, Liu T, Zhou Y, Hu Y. (2017) Beta oscillations in major depression signalling a new cortical circuit for central executive function. Sci Rep, 7: 18021.
- 158. Alhaj H, Wisniewski G, McAllister-Williams RH. (2011) The use of the EEG in measuring therapeutic drug action: focus on depression and antidepressants. J Psychopharmacol, 25: 1175-1191.
- 159. Fitzgerald PJ, Watson BO. (2019) In vivo electrophysiological recordings of the effects of antidepressant drugs. Exp Brain Res, 237: 1593-1614.

9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

9.1. Publications related to the PhD thesis

- Papp N, Koncz S, Kostyalik D, Kitka T, Petschner P, Vas S, Bagdy G. (2019) Acute 5-HT2C Receptor Antagonist SB-242084 Treatment Affects EEG Gamma Band Activity Similarly to Chronic Escitalopram. Front Pharmacol, 10: 1636. IF: 4.225 (2019)
- Papp N, Vas S, Bogathy E, Katai Z, Kostyalik D, Bagdy G. (2018) Acute and chronic escitalopram alter EEG gamma oscillations differently: relevance to therapeutic effects. Eur J Pharm Sci, 121: 347-355.
 IF: 3.532 (2018)

9.2. Publications not related to the PhD thesis

- Bogathy E, Papp N, Vas S, Bagdy G, Tothfalusi L. (2019) AM-251, A Cannabinoid Antagonist, Modifies the Dynamics of Sleep-Wake Cycles in Rats. Front Pharmacol, 10: 831.
 IF: 4.225 (2019)
- Bogathy E, Papp N, Tothfalusi L, Vas S, Bagdy G. (2019) Additive effect of 5-HT2C and CB1 receptor blockade on the regulation of sleep-wake cycle. BMC Neurosci, 20: 14.
 IF: 2.811 (2019)

10. Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to those who contributed to the work presented in this thesis.

I would like to thank to Prof. Dr. György Bagdy for all his guidance as my PhD supervisor and leader of the research group. My sincere thanks are also addressed to Dr. Szilvia Vas, who introduced me to research and who has been constantly supporting me since we first met.

I am grateful for all past and present members of the EEG Lab and the Department of Pharmacodynamics. A special thanks goes to Dr. Emese Bogáthy and Dr. Szabolcs Koncz for their assistance and encouragement as my closest colleagues and true friends. I would like to thank to Dr. László Tóthfalusi, Prof. Dr. Kornélia Tekes, Dr. Gabriella Juhász, and Dr. Tamás Tábi for all their kindness and wise advices.

I am also grateful for my co-authors: Szilvia Vas, Emese Bogáthy, Szabolcs Koncz, Diána Kostyalik, Zita Kátai, Tamás Kitka, Péter Petschner, László Tóthfalusi, and György Bagdy.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my fiancé and my parents for all their love, understanding, and everlasting support.

This work was funded by the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (MTA-SE Neuropsychopharmacology and Neurochemistry Research Group), the Hungarian Brain Research Program (Grants: 2017-1.2.1-NKP-2017-00002; KTIA_13_NAPA-II/14), the National Development Agency (Grant: KTIA_NAP_13-1-2013-0001), and the Thematic Excellence Programme (Tématerületi Kiválósági Program, 2020-4.1.1.-TKP2020) of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology in Hungary, within the framework of the Neurology and Translational Biotechnology thematic programmes of the Semmelweis University. Finally, I am grateful for the financial support by the New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology from the source of the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund (ÚNKP-20-4-I-SE-6).